
1 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
____________________________________ 
 
IN RE: 
 
BEACON POWER CORPORATION,1 
 

Debtors 
 
 
 
 
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 

 
Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 11-13450 (KJC) 
Jointly Administered 
 
Hearing: To be determined 
Objection Deadline: March 16, 2012 at 
4:00 p.m. 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA’S SUPPLEMENT TO ITS OMNIBUS RESPONSE TO  
AND RESERVATION OF RIGHTS RESPECTING THE 

FEE APPLICATIONS BY DEBTORS’ RESTRUCTURING PROFESSIONALS 
 

The United States, on behalf of the Department of Energy (DOE), responds to and 

reserves rights respecting the fee applications filed by Debtors’ restructuring professionals 

(collectively, “January Fee Applications”).2  [D.I. 259, 260, 261].  The DOE incorporates its 

earlier-filed omnibus response to the previous fee applications filed by the Debtors’ professionals 

(“Omnibus Response”) [D.I. 248] as if fully set forth herein and further states as follows: 

  

                                                           
1  The Debtors and the last four digits of their respective taxpayer identification numbers are as follows: are: 
Beacon Power Corporation (2365) (Beacon); Stephentown Holding LLC (4923) (Holding); and Stephentown 
Regulation Services LLC (5016) (SRS).  The Debtors’ headquarters is located at 65 Middlesex Road, Tyngsboro, 
MA 01879. 
2  The applications encompass the third monthly applications for the period from January, 1 2012 to January 
30, 2012, and are named as follows: (1) Third Monthly Application of Brown Rudnick LLP As Counsel For The 
Debtors, For Allowance Of Compensation And For Reimbursement Of Expenses Incurred [D.I. 259] (“Third Brown 
Rudnick Application”); (2) Third Monthly Application of CRG Partners Group LLC As Finance Advisors For The 
Debtors, For Allowance Of Compensation And For Reimbursement Of Expenses Incurred [D.I. 260] (“Third CRG 
Application”); (3) Third Monthly Fee Application of Potter Anderson & Corroon LLP For Compensation Of 
Services Rendered And Reimbursement Of Expenses As Co-Counsel To The Debtors And Debtors-In-Possession 
For The Period From January 1, 2012 Through January 31, 2012 [D.I. 261] (“Third Potter Anderson Application”). 



2 
 

 
FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

1. In the Third Brown Rudnick Application, Brown Rudnick requests provisional 

allowance for attorneys’ fees in the amount of $491,018.50 and reimbursement of expenses in 

the amount of $6,794.92 for January 2012.  Brown Rudnick accumulated these fees over a total 

of 786.8 hours of work among twenty-six attorneys, including nine partners.  [Ex. A to Third 

Brown Rudnick Application.] 

2. In the Third CRG Application, CRG requests provisional allowance for fees in the 

amount of $279,384.00 and reimbursement of expenses in the amount of $4,775.84 for January 

2012.  CRG accumulated these fees over a total of 537 hours of work among primarily three 

professionals.   

3. In the Third Potter Anderson Application, Potter Anderson requests provisional 

allowance for fees in the amount of $23,756.00 and reimbursement of expenses in the amount of 

$540.54.  Potter Anderson accumulated these fees over a total of 60.5 hours of work among three 

attorneys and two paralegals. 

PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS 

In its Omnibus Response, the DOE set forth certain general objections, incorporated 

wholly herein, to the fee applications filed by the Debtors’ professionals and reserved its right to 

object pending the professionals’ final application for fees.  In this supplement, the DOE further 

preliminarily highlights certain objectionable aspects of the January Fee Applications. 

A. The Debtors’ Professionals Lodestar Fees Are Excessive And Disproportionate To 
The Size Of The Debtors’ Estate. 

4. “It is fundamental that the bankruptcy process is for the benefit of the debtor and 

the creditors, not the professionals.  If the fees are not reasonably proportionate to the size of the 

estate, the benefit shifts, as a practical matter, from the parties to the professionals.”  In re 
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Narragansett Clothing Co., 160 B.R. 477, 482 (Bankr. D.R.I. 1993).  If the requested fees are 

disproportionate to the size of the estate, then the Court may reduce the fees accordingly.  See id. 

(holding that a request for professional fees that constitutes 42% of the estate to be “greatly 

disproportionate and unacceptable”). 

5. Back in December, the Court had already admonished the professionals that the 

estate is “pretty thin” and offers little to anyone except for the professionals and the secured 

creditor: 

At some point, in a case that offers so little for others, except for those who we 
see in this room, basically, there comes a point when it’s just not worth the further 
consumption of estate resources or of, frankly, the Court’s time in trying to work 
through the issues that the parties, themselves, cannot resolve. 

(Dec. 15, 2011 Tr. at 4:8-19) (attached as Exhibit A to Omnibus Response).  Thus, by January at 

the latest, it was abundantly clear to all involved in this proceeding, including the Court, that the 

estate would be administratively insolvent.   

6. Disregarding the Court’s admonition and all signs to the contrary, including the 

professional fees budget in the Cash Collateral Order, Brown Rudnick continued to staff the case 

as if it were a robust chapter 11 proceeding with substantial estate funds that would benefit all 

creditors, including priority and unsecured creditors.  (See Ex. 1 to Cash Collateral Order [D.I. 

85] (projecting professionals’ fees accrual of $1,879,000 for the entire cash collateral period).)  

7. In January (the period covered by the fee applications at issue), Brown Rudnick 

staffed the case with nine partners, sixteen associates, and one staff attorney.  Rather than 

substantially curtailing its staffing from the first month of the bankruptcy, Brown Rudnick kept 

sixteen associates staffed and working on this administratively insolvent matter.  (See Third 

Brown Rudnick Application.) 
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8. Of the nine partners on this matter, five billed at least a week’s worth of time, 

forty hours, to the matter.  Rather than using a smaller team of associates to develop a greater 

depth of knowledge and familiarity with the case for each associate, Brown Rudnick staffed 

sixteen associates on this matter; and eleven of them billed between two and nine hours.  (See 

id.) 

9. Not surprisingly, counsel from Brown Rudnick for the Debtors announced at the 

March 8, 2012 hearing that the estate was administratively insolvent – a fact not at all apparent 

based on a review of Brown Rudnick’s billing records.  (See Ex. A at 4:9-10.)  

10. Based on the foregoing, the United States objects to the fee applications, 

including the January Fee Applications, to the extent that they would provide for compensation 

for the Debtors’ professionals that is disproportionate to the size of the estate. 

B. The Debtors’ Professionals Are Precluded From Receiving Compensation For Work 
Adverse To The Secured Party. 

11. The Cash Collateral Order provides generally that the Cash Collateral may not be 

used to advance interests adverse to the DOE, nor should DOE’s liens be subject to the carve-out 

as defined in the cash collateral order (“Carve-Out”) to the extent that the professionals have 

accumulated fees in furtherance of actions adverse to DOE’s interests.  (Cash Collateral Order at 

¶¶ 10(c) and 18.) 

12. With respect to the January Fee Applications, the DOE preliminarily notes that 

fees were incurred after entry of the Cash Collateral Order on November 18, 2011 in derogation 

of the prohibitions contained therein. 

13. As the Court is well aware, the DOE has always maintained that the consent of 

the United States is needed before the Debtors may assume and assign agreements with the 

United States.  See In re West Electronics, Inc., 852 F.2d 79, 83 (3d Cir. 1988); [D.I. 236]. 
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14. Rather than working with the DOE to communicate the requirements for 

obtaining consent and a novation of the agreement(s) at issue to potential bidders (as was 

eventually completed in advance of closing), the Debtors opposed DOE’s position [D.I. 246] and  

circulated a memorandum to all potential bidders expressly rejecting DOE’s legal position. 

15. Pending final review of Brown Rudnick’s applications, seven Brown Rudnick 

attorneys (including three partners) expended more than thirty combined hours in drafting this 

memorandum that is incorrect on the law and contrary to DOE’s position.  (See Ex. B. to Third 

Brown Rudnick Application.)  Brown Rudnick’s entitlement to be paid via the negotiated Carve-

Out must be reduced accordingly.3 

C. The Debtors Professionals’ Entitlement To Fees Recovery And To The Carve-Out Is 
Subject To Further Reduction For Unauthorized Payments Of Administrative And 
Priority Claims. 

16. Prior to closing (which was effective on March 6, 2012), Debtors’ counsel 

informed the DOE that Debtors intended to pay out termination and severance claims up to the 

$11,725 statutory cap, 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(4), and certain Key Employee Incentive Program 

(“KEIP”) payments to Debtors’ former employees. 

17. The DOE notified Debtors’ counsel of its opposition to payment of such claims 

given that the estate is, as conceded by Debtors’ counsel, administratively insolvent.  

18. Notwithstanding learning of United States’ opposition, the Debtors have since 

paid out the (unsecured) severance claims, relying on the Court’s order authorizing, but not 

directing, the Debtors to make such payments (“Wage Order”).  [D.I. 41.] 

                                                           
3 The United States expressly reserves the right to supplement with additional instances of the Debtors’ 
professionals engaging in work adverse to the interests of the DOE as the secured party.  
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19. In obtaining the Wage Order, the Debtors represented to the Court that these 

payments “will not prejudice other creditors” because the Bankruptcy Code defined such wages 

as priority unsecured claims.  [D.I. 3 at 20.] 

20. Given the estate’s administrative insolvency, these severance payments to 

unsecured claimants violate the priority of distribution prescribed by the Bankruptcy Code and 

prejudice all creditors.   

21. The payments prejudice administrative claimants by shrinking the pool of funds 

to satisfy administrative claims, and reduce the administrative claimants’ recovery pro rata. 

22. The payments prejudice other unsecured creditors by allowing these unsecured 

claims 100% recovery, while no other unsecured claimant would be entitled to payment given 

the administrative insolvency. 

23. The payments prejudice the United States, as the secured creditor, because the 

Debtors’ stripping of available funds from the estate decreases the funds available to pay 

administrative claimants.  Thus, to the extent that a greater deficiency for payment of the 

Debtors’ professional fees is created as a result, the DOE objects to any attempt by the Debtors’ 

professionals to further “invade” the Carve-Out without any prejudice to their own recovery.  

[D.I. 85.] 

24. Similarly, the Debtors’ full payment of approximately $23,000 in KEIP claims 

over the United States’ objection violates the priority prescribed by the Bankruptcy Code and the 

order of this Court (“KEIP Order”).  [D.I. 154.]   

25. The KEIP Order provides that any KEIP claim: (1) constitutes an administrative 

claim; (2) may only be satisfied pro rata with payment of certain professional fees from the 
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unencumbered funds not subject to any DOE liens; and (3) may not be satisfied from the Carve-

Out.  (KEIP Order at ¶¶ 3-5.) 

26. The payment of these KEIP claims directly violates the Bankruptcy Order and the 

KEIP Order given that: (1) administrative claims will not be paid in full; (2) there will not be any 

unencumbered funds from which KEIP claims may be paid following the consumption of the 

unencumbered funds by the requested lodestar fees of the Debtors’ professionals; and (3) the 

payment of these KEIP claims effectively reduces the Carve-Out on nearly a dollar for dollar 

basis. 

27. In other words, by permitting the Debtors to make the severance and KEIP 

payments, Debtors’ professionals have prejudiced every creditor party in this bankruptcy except 

themselves.  As such payments violate the priorities set forth in the Bankruptcy Code, they 

would constitute voidable post-petition transactions under 11 U.S.C. § 549. 

28. Accordingly, this Court should correspondingly reduce the fees recoverable by 

the Debtors’ professionals and their entitlement to the Carve-Out by the amount of the 

overpayments to Debtors’ employees over the objection of the DOE and in violation of the 

Bankruptcy Code.4  11 U.S.C. §§ 330; 549. 

                                                           
4 The DOE further reserves the right seek a surcharge against Brown Rudnick to the extent that the overpayments 
are not recovered. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the United States reserves all rights with respect to Debtors’ 

final fee applications, notes its preliminary objections to the Debtors’ January Fee Applications, 

and requests that the Court order the Debtors to hold the cash proceeds from the proposed sale in 

escrow pending this Court’s determination as to the distribution of the proceeds. 

Dated: March 15, 2012    
 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
STUART F. DELERY 
Acting Assistant Attorney General 
 
CHARLES M. OBERLY, III 
United States Attorney 
 
ELLEN W. SLIGHTS  (DE Bar No. 2782) 
Assistant United States Attorney 
1007 Orange Street, Suite 700 
P.O. Box 2046 
Wilmington, Delaware 19899-2046 
 
/s/ Victor W. Zhao                     
J. CHRISTOPHER KOHN 
JOHN STEMPLEWICZ 
MATTHEW TROY 
VICTOR W. ZHAO 
 
Attorneys 
Commercial Litigation Branch 
Civil Division 
United States Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 875 
Ben Franklin Station 
Washington D.C. 20044 
Tel. (202) 307-0958 
Fax (202) 514-9163 
victor.w.zhao@usdoj.gov 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on this 15th day of March, 2012, I caused a true and correct copy of 
foregoing document to be served via electronic mail upon all other parties receiving electronic notice 
under the Court's CM/ECF system.  
 
 
 

/s/ Victor W. Zhao 
Victor W. Zhao 

 


